FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/27/2022 4:33 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/28/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100885-6</u> Court of Appeals No. 83434-7-I

# Supreme Court of the State of Washington

State of Washington,

Respondent,

v.

Eric Barnett,

Petitioner.

#### **Petition for Review**

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA# 43124 Attorney for Petitioner

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com

### **

#### 1. Identity of Petitioner

Eric Barnett, Appellant at the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

#### 2. Court of Appeals Decision

State v. Barnett, No. 83434-7-I (March 28, 2022).

A copy of the Opinion is provided in the appendix.

#### 3. Issues Presented for Review

1. RCW 9.94A.533(3) contains conflicting provisions regarding whether a firearm enhancement may run consecutive to the sentence for a firearm possession offense listed in RCW 9.94A.533(3)(f). Did the trial court and Court of Appeals err in interpreting the statute to allow a firearm enhancement to run consecutive to a firearm possession sentence?

#### 4. Statement of the Case

4.1 There is a conflict in the firearm enhancement statute over whether an enhancement may run consecutive to the sentence for a firearm possession offense.

Eric Barnett committed an assault while possessing a firearm. Because he had previously been convicted of a serious offense, his possession of the firearm was unlawful. He also knew that the firearm was stolen. Barnett was convicted of Second Degree Assault, Possession of a Stolen Firearm, and First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm.

The assault conviction (Count 1) carried with it a 36-month firearm enhancement. Counts 2 and 3, being firearm possession crimes, were exempt from enhancement, under RCW 9.94A.533(3)(f):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The underlying facts of the incident that led to the charges in this case are immaterial to the statutory interpretation question presented, but if the Court is curious, those facts are set forth in the Brief of Appellant at 2-5.

The firearm enhancements in this section shall apply to all felony crimes except the following: ... possessing a stolen firearm, ... unlawful possession of a firearm in the first and second degree...

However, another part of the statute provides,

If the offender is being sentenced for more than one offense, the firearm enhancement or enhancements must be added to the total period of confinement for all offenses, regardless of which underlying offense is subject to a firearm enhancement.

RCW 9.94A.533(3). In other words, an enhancement generated by one offense may actually run consecutive to the sentence for another offense, if that other offense's sentence is longer.

Here, the question before the trial court and the Court of Appeals was what happens to a firearm enhancement when the "total period of confinement for all offenses" is defined by the sentence for firearm possession crimes that are exempt from enhancement? In such a case, the statutory provisions conflict: one

says the possession crimes cannot be enhanced, while another says they must.

# 4.2 The trial court held that the enhancement must run consecutive to the possession counts. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

The standard range sentences for Barnett's convictions were 33-43 months for Possession of a Stolen Firearm; 41-54 months for First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm; and 43-57 months for Second Degree Assault, which also carried an additional 36-month firearm enhancement. CP 65-66. The trial court imposed 43 months for each of the two firearm charges and 57 months for the assault. CP 68.

The trial court determined that the firearm counts must run consecutive to each other. RP (Prante) 103.2 The trial court initially stated that the firearm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Barnett will continue the style of citation established in the Brief of Appellant at p.2 n.1. "RP (Prante)" refers to the VRP prepared by Carman Prante, which includes the sentencing hearing.

enhancement would run consecutive to Count 1 (assault). RP (Prante) 103. But ultimately the trial court concluded that the firearm enhancement should run consecutive to Counts 2 and 3 (the firearm possession charges), for a total of 122 months confinement (43 for Count 2, plus 43 for Count 3, plus 36 for the firearm enhancement). RP (Prante) 104; CP 68.

On appeal, Barnett argued that the exemptions in RCW 9.94A.533(3)(f) prohibited running a firearm enhancement consecutive to the sentence for a firearm possession crime. Br. of App. 8-13, Reply Br. 2-9. He argued that the logic of this legislative intent was simple: Because a person committing one of these exempt crimes is already being punished for possessing a firearm, the addition of an enhancement based on the same underlying act—possessing a firearm—would be an unfair and unnecessary double punishment. Br. of App. 8-9.

Barnett argued that this logic was built into the original language of the statute. *E.g.*, Reply Br. 5-6. While the 1998 amendments in reaction to *In re Charles*, 135 Wn.2d 239, 955 P.2d 798 (1998), clarified that multiple firearm enhancements must run consecutive to each other, the amendments did not indicate any intent to change the original logic of exempting firearm possession crimes from enhancement. *E.g.*, Reply Br. 6.

The Court of Appeals disagreed. In its published opinion on this question of first impression, the court concluded that the current language of the statute unambiguously required Barnett's firearm enhancement to run consecutive to the possession counts. Opinion at 3-4. The court reasoned,

The plain language of RCW 9.94A.533(3) specifies that if any firearm enhancement is imposed for an eligible crime, it must be added "to the <u>total period of confinement for all offenses</u>." (emphasis added). It does not say that the firearm enhancement is to be

added to the total period of confinement for all "eligible offenses."

Opinion at 4. The court held that there was no conflict in the statutory language and affirmed Barnett's sentence.

#### 5. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted when the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

# 5.1 The Court should accept review because this issue is a matter of substantial public interest.

The statute at issue originated as part of the "Hard Time for Armed Crime" initiative. *See* Laws of 1995, ch. 129 (Initiative Measure No. 159). The purpose of the initiative was "to 'punish armed offenders more harshly to discourage the use of firearms,' except when the 'possession or use of a firearm is a necessary element of the underlying crime

itself." *State v. Pedro*, 148 Wn. App. 932, 946, 201 P.3d 398 (2009) (quoting *State v. Berrier*, 110 Wn. App. 639, 649-50, 41 P.3d 1198 (2002)). The public has a substantial interest in the integrity and proper interpretation and implementation of the initiative they enacted. This Court should accept review, reverse, and remand for resentencing.

The original language of the initiative made a clear distinction between the exempt crimes, which could not be enhanced because they already punished possession of a firearm, and other crimes, which could be enhanced. An offender "being sentenced for one of the crimes listed in this subsection as eligible for any firearm enhancements," which was committed while "armed with a firearm," would have a firearm enhancement "added to the standard sentence range" for the offense. Laws of 1995, ch. 129, sec. 2(3). The firearm enhancements "are mandatory, shall be served in total confinement, and shall not run concurrently

with any other sentencing provisions." Laws of 1995, ch. 129, sec. 2(3)(e). However, "The firearm enhancements in this section shall apply to all felony crimes except the following: ... possessing a stolen firearm, ... unlawful possession of a firearm ..." Laws of 1995, ch. 129, sec. 2(3)(f).

The courts understood the inherent logic in this distinction between the exempt crimes and non-exempt crimes:

The clear distinction between the exempt and nonexempt crimes is as the *Berrier* court articulated: all of the exempt crimes involve use or possession of a firearm as the underlying crime. Persons committing the exempt crimes receive sentences specifically for use or possession of a firearm—the use or possession is a necessary element of the exempt crimes. Without the use or possession of a firearm, there would be no sentence.

In contrast, persons committing first degree assault receive a sentence for intentional infliction of great bodily harm, which can be committed various ways—use of a firearm or deadly weapon, exposure or transmission

of HIV, or the infliction of great bodily harm without a weapon. Use of a firearm is only one way assault is elevated to first degree. The sentence for first degree assault is the same regardless of whether the defendant uses a firearm. The enhancement under RCW 9.94A.533(3)(a) recognizes the additional threat that first degree assault with a firearm poses—consistent with the statute's purpose of punishing armed offenders more harshly.

*Pedro*, 148 Wn. App. at 946-47. Following this logic reveals the intent behind the statutory distinction, that a firearm enhancement should not be applied to enhance the sentence for an offense that is on the exempt list.

The statutory language on which the trial court and Court of Appeals relied was added by the legislature in 1998 in response to this Court's decision in *In re Charles*, 135 Wn.2d 239, 955 P.2d 798 (1998), which had held that multiple firearm enhancements could run concurrent with each other. *See State v. Conover*, 183 Wn.2d 706, 713-14, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015).

The legislature clarified that multiple firearm enhancements must run consecutive to each other, by adding language such as, "If the offender is being sentenced for more than one offense, the firearm enhancement or enhancements must be added to the total period of confinement for all offenses, regardless of which underlying offense is subject to a firearm enhancement," and that enhancements "shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, including other firearm or other deadly weapon enhancements, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter." Laws of 1998, ch. 235, sec. 1(3) and 1(3)(e). The legislature did not change the language of the exempt list or its underlying logic.

"The 'plain meaning' of a statutory provision is to be discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 572, 578, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009). Here, the context of the statute, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole support the underlying logic expressed in *Pedro*, that the standard sentences for crimes in the exempt list already sufficiently punishes the use of firearms inherent in those crimes, and that adding an enhancement on top of that would be an unnecessary and unjust double punishment.

While undertaking a plain language analysis, the court will still avoid a literal reading if it would result in "unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences because we presume that the legislative body did not intend absurd results." *Olympic Healthcare Services II LLC v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 175 Wn. App. 174, 187-88, 304 P.3d 491 (2013). It is unlikely that the legislature, in responding to *Charles*, also intended to contradict the sound logic that animated the exemption of some crimes from being subject to firearm enhancements. Thus, the Court of Appeals' literal

reading of the amended language should be rejected because it results in strained consequences—the enhancement of the punishment for a firearm possession crime based on possession of a firearm. This result defies logic and should be avoided.

Rather, this Court should hold that the legislature intended that the crimes listed in RCW 9.94A.533(3)(f) should remain exempt from having their sentences enhanced by running a firearm enhancement consecutive to the sentence for the exempt crime. In this case, that would mean that the firearm enhancement for Count 1 could not run consecutive to the sentence for Counts 2 and 3.

Instead, the enhancement could only run consecutive to Count 1, the longest remaining non-exempt offense. This would shorten Barnett's total period of confinement from 122 months under the Court of Appeals' interpretation to 93 months under Barnett's

interpretation (57 months for Count 1 plus 36 months for the enhancement).

#### 6. Conclusion

The legislative findings enacted in the original initiative demonstrate the substantial public interest in ensuring appropriate punishment of crimes committed with firearms. See Laws of 1995, ch. 129, sec. 1. That substantial interest has not diminished over the years, as firearm crimes have continued to plague our communities. The initiative as a whole, even as amended, also demonstrates the underlying, sound logic of exempting firearm possession crimes from further enhancement. The Court of Appeals decision in this case throws that logic out the window in favor of a literal reading of amendments that were intended for a completely different purpose. This Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.

I certify that this document contains 2,051 words.

Submitted this 27th day of April, 2022.