FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/31/2022 12:45 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1008856

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. ERIC S. BARNETT, Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS, JUDGE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NORMA J. TILLOTSON Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

BY:

WILLIAM A. LERAAS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA # 15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

TABLES

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was convicted in Grays Harbor County Superior Court of one count of assault in the second degree with a firearm enhancement and two firearms offenses. The firearm offenses were ordered to be served consecutive to each other, for a total of 86 months, and concurrent with the assault in the second degree conviction (57 months). Pursuant to RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e) the 36 month firearm enhancement was added to the end of the 86 month sentence for the firearm sentences (after the total period of confinement). Petitioner argues that pursuant to RCW 9.94A.533(3)(f) the enhancement should have been added to the end of the total sentence, as his firearm offenses are exempt from the enhancement, citing *State v*. Pedro, 148 Wn. App. 932, 946, 201 P.3d 398 (2009), for the

proposition that offenses in which possession of a firearm is an element are not subject to the firearm enhancement.¹

The Court of Appeals affirmed the imposition of the enhancement at the end of the total period of confinement. *State v. Barnett*, 83434-7-I. Mr. Barnett now petitions this Court for review, alleging this case involves an issue of substantial interest. RAP 13.4(b).

ARGUMENT

The petition should be denied as the language of the statute is unambiguous and has been addressed by the appellate courts of this state in the past, and this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b).

"The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and implement the legislature's intent." *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007) citing *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 449, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

¹ However, contrary to this argument, some offenses which have possession of a firearm as an element are subject to the firearm enhancement, e.g. Burglary in the First Degree, RCW 9A.52.020(1). *State v. Johnson*, 105 Wash. App. 655, 678-79, 342 P.3d 338 (2015).

In interpreting the statute, this court looks first to its plain language. If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, then this court's inquiry is at an end. The statute is to be enforced in accordance with its plain meaning.

Id. (citations omitted).

"[W]e assume the statute means exactly what it says."

State v. Base, 131 Wn. App. 207, 213, 126 P.2d 79 (2006)

citing State v. Salavea, 151 Wn.2d 133, 86 P.3d 125 (2004).

In interpreting statutory terms, a court should take into consideration the meaning naturally attaching to them and that best harmonizes with the context of the rest of the statute. Statutes relating to the same subject matter are to be construed and read together as a unified whole in ascertaining a legislative purpose so that a harmonious total statutory scheme emerges. "[A]pparently conflicting statutes must be reconciled to give effect to each of them.

Id. (citations omitted).

This Court and the courts of appeals have consistently

held and recognized that the language of RCW 9.94A.533

(3)(e) is plain and unambiguous: firearm enhancements are

mandatory and run consecutively to the base sentence and other

enhancements. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 20, 25-29, 983 P.2d 608 (1999), abrogated with respect to defendants tried in adult court for crimes committed prior to their eighteenth birthday by State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017); State v. Wright, 19 Wn. App. 2d 37, 50, 493 P.3d 1220 (2021), review denied, _____ Wn.2d ____(Feb 3, 2022) (Washington Supreme Court Cause No. 1002394); State v. Mandefero, 14 Wn. App. 2d 825, 836-37, 473 P.3d 1239 (2020); State v. Brown, 13 Wn. App. 2d 288, 466 P.3d 244, review denied 196 Wn.2d 1013 (2020).

Petitioner ignores the plain language of the statute, asking the Court of Appeals and now this Court to rewrite the statute, adding language to a plain and unambiguous statute. The Court of Appeals noted that while RCW 9.94A.533(3)(f) is silent as to how enhancements should be imposed when an offender has both convictions that are eligible for an enhancement and those that are not, RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e)

answers that question:

The plain language of RCW 9.94A.533(3) specifies that if any firearm enhancement is imposed for an eligible crime, it must be added "to the *total period of* confinement for all offenses." (emphasis added). It does not say that the firearm enhancement is to be added to the total period of confinement for all "eligible offenses." Our interpretation is consistent with RCW 9.94A.533 (3)(e) which states that firearms enhancements "shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions." Again, the legislature did not choose to run the enhancement consecutively on to "all other sentencing provisions, except those relating to firearm offenses." When we interpret statutes, we will not "add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them. Rest. Dev., Inc. v. Canawill, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003).

State v. Barnett, 83434-7-I, page 4.

Adding the enhancement at the end of the total period of confinement effectuates the purpose of the statute: that those who possess firearms in the commission of their crimes be punished more harshly. It would hardly be an enhancement if, for instance, in this case, it was consecutive to the assault sentence but concurrent with the firearm offenses: Mr. Barnett would only serve six months of a 36-month enhancement after
the 86-month sentence for the firearm offenses was served (57
months plus 36 months equals 92 months). RCW
9.94A.533(3)(e) guards against this absurd result and
effectuates the purpose of the statute: "to punish armed
offenders more harshly to discourage the use of firearms, . . ." *Pedro*, 148 Wash. App. at 946.

Furthermore, the enhancement was not applied to the firearm offenses ("Because a person committing one of these exempt crimes is already being punished for possessing a firearm, the addition of an enhancement based on the same underlying act – possessing a firearm – would be an unfair and unnecessary double punishment." Brief of Appellant, pp. 8-9; Petition for Review, p. 5). It was applied to the assault conviction; Mr. Barnett just had to finish serving the sentences for the firearm offenses first. Given the plain and unambiguous language of the statute and the fact that it has been addressed numerous times by the appellate courts of this state, this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). The decision below is a *published* opinion, which will give precedential guidance to courts in the future; this Court need not weigh in on the matter.

In a different context (a no contact order and parental rights), one of the factors the court took into consideration in deciding that a case did not present an issue of substantial public interest was that there "already exist[ed] a substantial body of law regarding parental rights." *State v. Witt*, 199 Wn. App. 1050, p. 2 (COA Division II 2017) (not reported; cited as persuasive authority pursuant to GR 14.1(a)). The same is true here.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the petition should be denied.

This document contains 1117 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.